

Agenda

Ordinary Meeting of Council

To be held at the

Civic Centre

511 Burwood Highway

Wantirna South

On

Tuesday 29 January 2019 at 7:00 pm

Order of Business

1	Аро	logies And Requests For Leave Of Absence5					
2	Dec	Declarations Of Conflict Of Interest					
3	Con	firmation Of Minutes5					
4	Peti	tions And Memorials5					
5	Rep	orts By Councillors6					
	5.1	Committees and Delegates6					
	5.2	Ward Issues6					
6	City	Development Officers' Reports For Consideration7					
	6.1	Planning Applications Decided Under Delegation7					
	6.2	48 Kathryn Road, Knoxfield13					
	6.3	52 Kathryn Road, Knoxfield52					
	6.4	1-13 Erica Avenue, Boronia					
	6.5	Amendment C172 – Stamford Park LSIO (Land Subject to Inundation Overlay) removal .121					
	6.6	Cat Curfew Order132					
	6.7	Municipal Emergency Management Plan139					

7	Public Question Time
8	Engineering & Infrastructure Officers' Reports For Consideration190
	8.1 Council's Masterplan Status Report190
9	Community Services Officers' Reports For Consideration
	Nil.
10	Corporate Services Officers' Reports For Consideration230
	10.1 Proposed Sale of Council Property Part Wellington Road Reserve and Part 899R Wellington
	Road, Rowville230
	10.2 Citizenship Ceremonies235
	10.3 Election Period Policy for the Collier Ward By-Election238
	10.4 Minor Grants Program Applications248
	10.5 Revised Instruments of Delegation to Members of Council Staff
	10.6 Financial Performance Report for the Quarter Ended 31 December 2018424
	10.7 Call Up Item - Social Media Engagement
11	. Items For Information451
	11.1 Assemblies of Councillors451

12 Motions For Which Notice Has Previously Been Given458
13 Supplementary Items458
14 Urgent Business
14.1 Urgent Business458
14.2 Call Up Items458
15 Questions Without Notice458
16 Confidential Items458

Tony Doyle Chief Executive Officer

6.7 Municipal Emergency Management Plan

SUMMARY: Coordinator Emergency Management, Kim Halse

Under the Emergency Management Act 1986 (the Act) and in line with the Emergency Management Manual of Victoria (EMMV), in partnership with relevant agencies, Council has a legislative responsibility to facilitate the development and maintenance of the Municipal Emergency Management Plan (MEMP) which is subject to Audit under the Act every three years.

The Knox Municipal Emergency Management Plan 2019–2022 (the Plan) has been formally reviewed and endorsed by the Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee (MEMPC). Adoption of the Plan will enable the Plan to be operationalised, and will meet Council's legislative requirements.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council:

- 1. Adopt the Knox Municipal Emergency Management Plan 2019-2022 (refer Attachment 1).
- 2. Authorise the Director, City Development to make minor changes to the Plan that may be identified through the audit of the Plan, and where the changes do not affect the purpose or intent of the Plan.

1. INTRODUCTION

The Municipal Emergency Management Plan, (the Plan) has been developed pursuant to Section 20(1) of the *Emergency Management Act 1986*⁴, which requires all municipal Councils to prepare and maintain a Municipal Emergency Management Plan. Section 21A of the Act requires the Plan to be audited by Victoria State Emergency Service (VICSES) every three 3 years.

The Emergency Management Manual Victoria (EMMV) contains policy and planning documents for emergency management in Victoria, and provides details about the roles different organisations play in the emergency management arrangements.

The proposed Plan has been updated to ensure compliance with *the Act* and EMMV. It is due for audit by VICSES on 8 March 2019 and adoption by Council of this Plan is required prior to audit.

2. DISCUSSION

Municipal emergency management planning involves the identification and documentation of the overall multi-agency arrangements in place for the prevention of, response to and recovery from emergencies that affect the municipal district.

Pursuant to the aforementioned legislative requirements this Plan has been reviewed to ensure the adequate management of all aspects of emergency management from response to recovery.

⁴ Both the *Emergency Management Act 1986* and the *Emergency Management Act 2013* are to be read and construed as one Act, until such time as the *1986 Act* is repealed.

The Plan has been formally endorsed by the membership of the Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee (MEMPC)⁵ in December 2018.

The following diagram outlines the emergency management planning structure, including legislation, Council and audit requirements.



3. CONSULTATION

Stakeholder participation is an integral part of planning for emergencies. Key stakeholders represented on the MEMPC have provided significant input into the review process.

This Plan is consistent with the multi-agency approach taken to manage all hazards across the municipal district and incorporates engagement principles as outlined in the International Association of Public Participation Australasia (IAP2).

4. ENVIRONMENTAL/AMENITY ISSUES

Planning in emergency management is undertaken with regard for environmental and amenity issues to ensure the balance of safety and protection of both the environment and the community.

⁵ Knox City Council, Victoria Police, Country Fire Authority, Forest Fire Management Victoria, Victoria State Emergency Service, St John Ambulance, Red Cross, Metro Trains, Department of Education and Training, VicRoads, Ausnet Services, Department of Health and Human Services, Eastern Health and EACH Community Health Service.

5. FINANCIAL & ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS

Council currently allocates resources to support Emergency Management programs in the annual Council budget.

The Emergency Management team continue to seek opportunities for external funding and the building of partnerships with other municipalities and agencies to establish efficiencies that work to minimise any financial impacts. Undertaking the planning and works outlined in the Plan assists in reducing the risk of economic impacts associated with emergency events for Council and the community.

6. SOCIAL IMPLICATIONS

The Plan and associated activities aim to reduce the social implications associated with losses from emergency events in the Knox community.

7. RELEVANCE TO KNOX COMMUNITY AND COUNCIL PLAN 2017-2021

Goal 4 - We are safe and secure

Strategy 4.1 - Encourage and support the community to take responsibility for their own safety, and the safety of others

Strategy 4.2 - Enhance community connectedness opportunities to improve perceptions of safety

Strategy 4.3 - Maintain and manage the safety of the natural and built environment

Strategy 4.4 - Protect and promote public health, safety and amenity

Strategy 4.5 - Support the provision of emergency services

8. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Under section 80c of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to Council must disclose any interests, including the type of interest.

Author – Coordinator Emergency Management, Kim Halse - In providing this advice as the Author, I have no disclosable interests in this report.

Officer Responsible – Acting Director, City Development, Paul Dickie - In providing this advice as the Officer Responsible, I have no disclosable interests in this report.

9. CONCLUSION

The Plan has been reviewed and endorsed by the MEMPC, which comprises a group of emergency services personnel representing their agencies and communities, to ensure a planned approach in the management of emergency events across the municipal area.

This report seeks Council's adoption of the Plan to meet legislative and audit requirements.

10. CONFIDENTIALITY

There are no items of a confidential nature in this report.

Report Prepared By:	Coordinator Emergency Management, Kim Halse
Report Authorised By:	Acting Director, City Development, Paul Dickie

Attachments

1. Municipal Emergency Management Plan 2019-2021 [6.7.1]

your city

Municipal Emergency Management Plan 2019-2022



In preparation for audit by VICSES in March 2019, this Plan has been reviewed and endorsed by the MEMPC in December 2018 and adopted by Council on 29 January 2019.

Published January 2019

© Copyright: Knox Emergency Management Planning Committee

144 of 458

Contents

1.	Introd	duction		6
	1.1		risation	6
	1.2	Audit	report	7
	1.3	Acron		8
	1.4	Aim		10
	1.5	Object	tives	10
2.	Backg	ground		11
	2.1	Conte	xt	11
	2.2	Area c	characteristics	11
		2.2.1	Topography	11
		2.2.2	Demography	12
		2.2.3	Vulnerable Persons	12
		2.2.4	Municipal location map	14
		2.2.5	History of emergencies	15
3.	Plann	ing arran	igements	17
	3.1	Munici	ipal Emergency Management Planning Committee (MEMPC)	17
		3.1.1	Terms of Reference	17
		3.1.2	Membership of the Committee	17
		3.1.3	Municipal Emergency Management Sub Committees	17
		3.1.4	Meeting frequency	18
		3.1.5	Maintenance of the Plan	18
	3.2	Opera	tional management arrangements	18
		3.2.1	Sub Plans & Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)	18
		3.2.2	Council's emergency management functions	19
		3.2.3	Council emergency management positions - roles and responsibilities	19
			Municipal Emergency Manager (MEM)	19
			Municipal Emergency Response Coordinator (MERC)	19
			Municipal Emergency Resource Officer (MERO)	19
			Municipal Recovery Manager (MRM)	20
			Public Information Officer (PIO)	20
			Emergency Management Liaison Officer (EMLO)	20
			Regional Emergency Management Team (REMT) Representative	20
			Municipal Fire Prevention Officer (MFPO)	20

Contents

	3.3	Audit ı	requirements and process	22
4.	Preven	tion/mi	tigation arrangements	23
	4.1	Backg	round/Introduction	23
	4.2	Risk as	ssessment process	23
		4.2.1	Community Emergency Risk Assessment (CERA)	23
		4.2.2	Victorian Fire Risk Register – Bushfire (VFRR-B)	24
		4.2.3	Victorian Built Environment Risk Assessment Process (V-BERAP)	24
	4.3	Comm	unity awareness and resilience	25
	4.4	Emerg	ency support staff	25
	4.5	Emerg	ency exercises	25
5.	Respor	nse Arra	ingements	26
	5.1	Introdu	uction	26
		5.1.1	Definitions of Emergencies	26
	5.2	Comm	and, Control, Co-ordination, Consequence,	
		Comm	unication and Community Connection	27
		5.2.1	Command	28
		5.2.2	Control	28
		5.2.3	Coordination	28
		5.2.4	Consequence	28
		5.2.5	Communication	28
		5.2.6	Community Connection	28
		5.2.7	Emergency Management Teams	29
	5.3	Phases	s of activation	30
	5.4	Local r	response arrangements and responsible agencies	31
	5.5	Proces	ss for sourcing additional resources	31
	5.6	Munici	pal Emergency Coordination Centre activation procedure	32
		5.6.1	Level 1 - Small scale incidents (less than 24hr impact)	32
		5.6.2	Level 2 - Medium scale incidents	32
		5.6.3	Level 3 - Large scale incidents	32
	5.7	Munici	pal Emergency Coordination Centre	33
		5.7.1	Council resources list	33

5.8	Financ	ial considerations	33
5.9	Evacua		33
5.10		information and warnings	35
5.11		oourhood Safer Places (places of last resort) an fire refuges	35
5.12		ency Relief Centres	35
5.13		ng for cross municipality events	35
5.14		council resource sharing	36
5.15		fing arrangements	36
5.16		nse to recovery - transition	37
		overy arrangements	38
6.1	Introdu		38
6.2		pal relief arrangements	38
0.2	6.2.1	Management structure	38
	6.2.2	Summary of relief arrangements, roles and responsibilities	38
	6.2.3	Role of Department of Health and Human Services in relief/recovery	39
6.3		ery arrangements	39
0.0	6.3.1	Objectives of recovery	41
	6.3.2	Recovery Centre activation	41
	6.3.3	Government funding	41
APPEN		ADMINISTRATION	42
AFFLI		dment history	42
		oution list	42
APPEN			42 43
APPEN		FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION)	43
		SPECIAL PLANS AND ARRANGEMENTS	43 44
APPEN		Sub Plans	44
	Sub Pl		44
		onal Plans	44
	-	gements and other documents COUNCIL RESOURCES LIST	44
APPEN			45
	(INOT I	FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION)	45

6.

1. Introduction

The Knox Municipal Emergency Management Plan ("Plan") is a legislated document intended for use by all persons and organisations with emergency management roles in Knox and is available to the general public. The aim of this document is to contribute to the development of a more disaster resilient community in Knox that is better able to prepare for, respond to, and recover from emergency events.

The Plan is consistent with State and regional emergency management objectives. To achieve this, Knox City Council works collaboratively with emergency services, agencies, all levels of government, local industries and businesses, communities and neighbouring Local Government Areas to prevent and minimise the occurrence and impact of emergency events to people, businesses and the environment.

This Plan has been developed by members of the Knox Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee (MEMPC) pursuant to the requirements of Part Four, Section 21 (3) of the *Emergency Management Act 1986*¹ and 2013 detailed in the Emergency Management Manual Victoria (EMMV).

1.1 Authorisation

This Plan has been produced by and with the authority of Knox City Council pursuant to Section 20(1) of the *Emergency Management Act 1986*¹.

Knox City Council understands and accepts its roles and responsibilities as described in Part 4 of the *Emergency Management Act 1986*.

This Plan addresses the prevention of, response to and recovery from emergencies within Knox. It is the result of the cooperative efforts of the MEMPC and incorporated audit advice from the Victoria State Emergency Service.

This Plan was endorsed by the MEMPC in December 2018 and has been adopted by Council at their ordinary meeting on 29 January 2019.

Tony Doyle Chief Executive Officer, Knox City Council

¹ Both the *Emergency Management Act 1986* and the *Emergency Management Act 2013* are to be read and construed as one Act, until such time as the 1986 Act is repealed.

Introduction

1.2 Audit report

Introduction

1.3 Acronyms

ВоМ	Bureau of Meteorology
CEO	Chief Executive Officer
CERA	Community Emergency Risk Assessment
CFA	Country Fire Authority
DHHS	Department of Health and Human Services
EMC EMP	Eastern Metropolitan Councils Emergency Management Partnership
EMLO	Emergency Management Liaison Officer
EMMV	Emergency Management Manual Victoria
EMV	Emergency Management Victoria
EPA	Environment Protection Authority
ERC	Emergency Relief Centre
FFMVic	Forest Fire Management Victoria
HAZMAT	Hazardous Materials
ICC	Incident Control Centre
IEMT	Incident Emergency Management Team
IERC	Incident Emergency Response Coordinator
MECC	Municipal Emergency Coordination Centre
МЕМ	Municipal Emergency Manager
МЕМР	Municipal Emergency Management Plan
МЕМРС	Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee
MERC	Municipal Emergency Response Coordinator (Victoria Police)

MERO	Municipal Emergency Resource Officer
MFB	Metropolitan Fire Brigade
MFMP	Municipal Fire Management Plan
МҒМРС	Municipal Fire Management Planning Committee
MFPO	Municipal Fire Prevention Officer
MRM	Municipal Recovery Manager
NDRRA	Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements
ΡΙΟ	Public Information Officer
REMT	Regional Emergency Management Team
RERC	Regional Emergency Response Coordinator
RPSC	Recovery Planning Sub Committee
SEMG	Senior Emergency Management Group
SEMT	State Emergency Management Team
SIA	Secondary Impact Assessment
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
V-BERAP	Victorian Built Environment Risk Assessment Process
VICSES	Victoria State Emergency Service
VicPol	Victoria Police
VFRR	Victorian Fire Risk Register
VPR	Vulnerable Persons Register

Introduction

1.4 Aim

This Plan aims to ensure an effective and coordinated response to Part 4 of the *Emergency Management Act, 1986* and Part 6 of the Emergency Management Manual Victoria in the provision of the agreed arrangements for the prevention of, response to, and recovery from emergencies that may occur in the municipality.

This Plan closely aligns with the State Emergency Management Priorities and the factors that are required to be considered and actioned during response to any emergency. They allow Council to frame how it addresses what is important to individual communities.

The State Emergency Management Priorities are:

- Protection and preservation of life is paramount. This includes:
 - Safety of emergency services personnel; and
 - Safety of community members including vulnerable community members and visitors/ tourists located within the incident area
- Issuing of community information and community warnings detailing incident information that is timely, relevant and tailored to assist community members make informed decisions about their safety
- Protection of critical infrastructure and community assets that support community resilience
- Protection of residential property as a place of primary residence
- Protection of assets supporting individual livelihoods and economic production that supports individual and community financial sustainability
- Protection of environmental and conservation assets that consider the cultural, biodiversity and social values of the environment.

1.5 Objectives

The broad objectives of this Plan are to:

- Implement measures to prevent or reduce the causes or effects of emergencies;
- Manage arrangements for the use and implementation of municipal resources in response to emergencies;
- Manage support that may be provided to or from adjoining municipalities; regional, state and or federal instrumentalities;
- Assist the affected community to recover following an emergency; and
- Complement other local, regional and State planning arrangements.



2. Background

2.1 Context

This Plan, prepared by the Knox Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee (MEMPC), reflects the shared responsibilities of government, emergency management agencies and communities for the actions they will take to prepare for, respond to and recover from emergencies. It is important for enhancing resilience that community, emergency services and relief and recovery agencies work together.

This Plan is the overarching document for the integrated management of emergencies in the Knox municipal area. It is supported by a range of hazard plans as determined by a risk identification process and a number of response based plans to ensure smooth coordination of service delivery in emergencies.

Emergency management agencies, departments, industries, businesses, schools, groups, families and individuals should have their own plans, procedures and guidelines that support their planning and decision making processes before, during and after emergencies.

This Plan is supported by a variety of information, including:

- Management arrangements that contain general information about emergency planning, response and recovery arrangements; and roles and responsibilities of people and organisations involved in emergency management.
- Sub Plans, including hazard specific Sub Plans and Standard Operating Procedures which are to be used during actual emergency events and are designed to be used as stand-alone operational documents.
- Appendices that contain ancillary information including a contact directory that lists contact details for all persons and organisations that have a role in this plan, administration details and a list of Council resources.

2.2 Area characteristics

The City of Knox is located 25 kilometres east of the Melbourne Central Business District. Knox boasts a green, leafy image extending to the foothills of the picturesque Dandenong Ranges. The City of Knox is one of the most populous and diverse municipalities in Victoria, with more than 160,000 residents living in eleven suburbs.

2.2.1 Topography

The Knox municipal area is located at the foothills of the Dandenong Ranges on the urban rural fringe and includes the geographic area known as the City of Knox. This area is 114 square kilometres and includes predominant land tenures of Parks Victoria, Knox City Council and private land holders.

Surrounded by major parks, with five creeks running through the Knox municipal area, Knox celebrates, and protects its environment. It has a strong and growing business, educational, medical and industrial life, and is located close to growing markets and transport hubs.

The Knox municipal area is a major hub of cultural, commercial, business, medical and innovative activity in the eastern suburbs. It is the gateway to both a major growth area in Melbourne and the urban-rural fringe.

Background

2.2.2 Demography

The population of the Knox municipal area is approximately 160,700 spread over 114 square kilometres and 11 suburbs. Suburbs include Bayswater, Boronia, Ferntree Gully, Knoxfield, Lysterfield, Rowville, Scoresby, The Basin, Upper Ferntree Gully, Wantirna and Wantirna South.

Age structure

The City of Knox population from the 2016 census data shows the age group with the highest number of people living within the city's boundaries in 2016 was the 45 to 49 year age group.

In summary, between 2011 and 2016 census the largest changes in age structure for the City of Knox were:

- An increase in the age group 70 to 74;
- An increase in the age group 65 to 69;
- A decrease in the age group 15 to 19, and
- A decrease in the age group 10 to 14.

Culturally and Linguistically Diverse Communities (CALD)

The Knox municipal area has a diverse population with 46,424 residents born overseas (30% of the total population) and 23% of residents from non-English speaking backgrounds providing the Knox municipal area with a diverse cultural landscape. The top ten listed countries of birth other than Australia includes United Kingdom, China, India, Malaysia, Sri Lanka, New Zealand, Philippines, Hong Kong, Vietnam and Germany.

Find further Knox municipality data: profile.id.com.au/knox

2.2.3 Vulnerable Persons

Within the Knox municipal area there are several vulnerable groups/facilities:

- Lower socio economic groups. There are 14,000 people living in 8,600 low income households in Knox (those households that fall into the bottom 25% of incomes across Australia).
- Indigenous community. Knox has an Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander population of 750 people, the second largest population in the Eastern region of Melbourne, which has greater disadvantage in terms of education, economic capacity, employment and housing security compared with the wider population.
- Culturally diverse communities. There is an increasing number of people for whom English is not their first language living in Knox. This increased from 31,500 in 2011 to 38,800 by 2016, with the majority (12,800) speaking a Chinese language. This has implications for communication during a fire event.
- Senior citizens and residential care facilities. 15% of the population is aged 65 years and older. There are 25 residential aged care facilities and a further 4 supported residential service facilities within the Knox municipal area, 17 older person independent living complexes and retirement villages. An emerging trend is for older people to remain living in their own homes and have care services delivered in home.

- Hospitals. There are four hospitals within the Knox municipal area, two public (the Angliss and Wantirna Health) and two private (Knox Private and Melbourne Eastern Private Hospital).
- Children and young people. 18% (27,000) of Knox residents are children under 15 while young people aged 15-24 years account for a further 13% (20,000) of residents. There are 50 schools in the Knox municipal area, both public and private, and one tertiary education institution.
- Need for assistance. In 2016 there were approximately 7,400 people with a major disability living in Knox. This is based on need for assistance in regard to self-care, mobility or communication (very young children requiring assistance due to age are filtered out of this figure). This information can assist in continued planning for supporting vulnerable community during an emergency.

Vulnerable Persons Register

The Vulnerable Persons Register is managed by the Department of Health and Human Services and hosted on Council's emergency database Crisisworks.²

During an emergency Victoria Police have access to the Register. Other relevant service agencies that believe they require this register are requested to contact the Municipal Emergency Resource Officer (MERO) on 9298 8000.

Victoria Police, as the agency responsible for managing evacuations, will be required to assist vulnerable persons in community facilities that house vulnerable people.

Vulnerable Facilities List

The Vulnerable Facilities List is maintained by Knox City Council and identifies buildings where vulnerable people are likely to be situated, including aged care facilities, hospitals, schools, disability group homes and child care centres. The list is reviewed and updated as part of the annual MEMP update.

The Vulnerable Facilities List is held within Crisisworks or can be obtained by contacting Council's Coordinator Emergency Management.

² Crisisworks is software for emergency managers that provides enhanced coordination, communication, situational awareness and resilience across all phases including - Planning, Preparedness, Response and Recovery.

Background

2.2.4 Municipal location map



2.2.5 History of emergencies

The Knox municipal area has experienced many emergencies in recent times.

2009 Black Saturday

At about 3:40 pm on 7 February, a fire started in the area along the railway line in Upper Ferntree Gully. Local Country Fire Authority (CFA) units in the process of returning from an earlier call observed the column of smoke and immediately responded to the fire. To many, this pre-emptive response was key to the fire being brought under control without any life or significant property loss. In addition, the opportune arrival of a fire bombing helicopter that was able to access water from the lake at the residential development at the old Ferntree Gully Quarry site was a vital success factor in preventing a catastrophe.

A number of emergency alerts were issued to the community during this fire, however there was no requirement for evacuation or relief. The Municipal Emergency Co-ordination Centre (MECC) was not activated. The duty Municipal Emergency Resources Officer (MERO) attended during the fire to provide assistance.

Nixon Road, Upwey Fire

On the afternoon of 23 February 2009 a bushfire occurred in the area of Nixon Road in Upwey. In line with arrangements previously put in place between Knox Council and Yarra Ranges Council, the Relief Centre at the Ferntree Gully Netball Centre was activated to accommodate people evacuating areas within Yarra Ranges. The centre operated for a period of 24 hours and housed over 250 people overnight.

While that fire was entirely within Yarra Ranges, it demonstrates the benefits of co-operative arrangements within emergency management.

2010 Hailstorm

In less than 20 minutes on Saturday 6 March 2010, a severe hailstorm impacted Victoria causing widespread damage to much of metropolitan Melbourne. Many properties sustained significant damage from both the hailstorm and the heavy rain that followed.

Being the Labour Day long-weekend, a large number of people were not home at the time and returned to their properties to find them significantly damaged from not just the hail storm but also the significant rain event that followed the hail.

Thousands of residential properties and an unknown number of business properties were damaged – to the extent that some residential properties were required to be demolished.

Countless motor vehicles were damaged and, in some cases, people injured when hit by the hail. The response required the activation of the MECC which was operational for several days.

Many residents suffered trauma. During research conducted three years after the incident in 2013, many people described how their children were still suffering from the storm.

Rapid impact assessments were undertaken to identify displaced residents and to assist with prioritisation of calls to Victoria State Emergency Service (VICSES) for assistance. In addition to a multi-agency response being activated from within Victoria, more than 300 personnel from interstate State Emergency Services were deployed to support Knox VICSES.

By the end of operations on 12 March, VICSES had managed in excess of 3,000 requests for assistance. As part of the longer term recovery effort, more than 4,000 homes were visited by members of the Victorian Red Cross to ensure residents understood the assistance available from Council and the other recovery agencies.

Background

Knox Transfer Station

Knox has experienced a number of large fires at the Knox Transfer Station.

On Australia Day 2012 there was a multi-agency response to a hazardous fire at the Knox Transfer station involving over 80 CFA and emergency service personnel, with support from the MERO and Municipal Emergency Response Coordinator (MERC). Smoke was visible from surrounding suburbs and raised interest among the community and media agencies.

Agencies involved in this incident were CFA, Metropolitan Fire Brigade (MFB), Victoria Police, VICSES, Ambulance Victoria, Environment Protection Authority (EPA), Salvation Army and Council. Given there were a number of similar fires at this site in the months following, Knox participated in a joint agency meeting with CFA, Victoria Police and the management of the Transfer Station to develop procedures and strategies to minimise the potential for these fires in the future.

Similar fires have occurred at this site on 14 June 2016, 13 April 2018 and 6 October 2018, due to the process of shredding old mattresses. The proprietor and staff along with CFA and Council's Waste Management Department have addressed the risks and introduced a range of mitigation strategies based on the learnings from each of the fires. Due to the nature of the shredding process no guarantees can be given these type of fires will not occur in the future.

Incidents in the built environment

Sometimes single incidents, such as house fires, occur which require multiple Council services to attend to coordinate Council's response. These can include Community Laws, the Municipal Building Surveyor and/ or Environmental Health. Incidents which occur in major facilities might also require the attendance of Council's MERO to support the lead agency. This sort of cooperation and collaboration is likely to increase in future.

3. Planning arrangements

This section details the planning arrangements for the management of emergencies which affect the community of the City of Knox.

It identifies specific emergency management roles and responsibilities. All emergency positions and arrangements are put in place to meet the needs of an emergency affected community, with some of these positions required under the *Emergency Management Act 1986.*

3.1 Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee (MEMPC)

The Committee, established under Section 21 (3) and (4) of the Emergency Management Act 1986, is responsible for formulating, maintaining and testing the Plan.

3.1.1 Terms of Reference

The Terms of Reference for the Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee (MEMPC) were endorsed by the MEMPC in December 2018. The purpose of the Committee is outlined under Section 3.1 of this Plan.

3.1.2 Membership of the Committee

The Committee consists of:

Knox City Council members

- Municipal Emergency Manager (Chairperson)
- Coordinator Emergency Management
- Emergency Management Officer
- Municipal Emergency Resource Officer (MERO)
- Municipal Fire Prevention Officer (MFPO)
- Municipal Recovery Manager (MRM)
- Public Information Officer (PIO)

Response and recovery agency/organisations

- Victoria Police Municipal Emergency Response Coordinator (MERC)
- Country Fire Authority
- Department of Health & Human Services
- Department of Education and Training
- Ambulance Victoria
- Forest Fire Management Victoria
- EACH
- St John Ambulance
- Victorian Council of Churches Emergencies Ministry
- Red Cross
- Victoria State Emergency Service

Local business/community representatives

- Boronia Centrelink
- Eastern Health
- Westfield Knox

Membership of the Committee can be reviewed at any MEMPC meeting. New members may be invited dependant on changes in legislation, changes of agency contact person, risk identification or interest from a new agency/community group.

3.1.3 Municipal Emergency Management Sub Committees

The MEMPC may form, or contribute to, special sub committees to plan for the management of hazard specific identified risks or functions which require an additional level of planning. Examples of these include: Municipal Fire Management, Municipal Recovery, Pandemic, and Heatwave.

Planning arrangements

3.1.4 Meeting frequency

The Knox MEMPC holds a minimum of four meetings per year.

Should a significant incident occur within the municipality, the Committee will call an extraordinary meeting to discuss, review and evaluate the response to the event. A risk assessment will be undertaken to review key priorities of emergency management planning.

Legislative or policy changes impacting local governments' response to emergency management operations may also generate the need for an extraordinary meeting.

3.1.5 Maintenance of the Plan

The MEMP and each Sub Plan will be reviewed annually or after a significant emergency. A major review will be undertaken every 3 years by the MEMPC. The Coordinator Emergency Management will ensure that the Plan is updated as required.

Organisations with responsibilities within this Plan are required to notify the Coordinator Emergency Management of any changes of details (eg. contact information), as they occur. Review of the Plan will specifically focus on the hazards/risks in the municipal area and the Contact Directory of the plan (Appendix B).

Amendments to the Plan are placed on the MEMPC agenda. Following approval, the amendments are included in the updated MEMP and are distributed to members of the MEMPC.

The current version of the Knox Municipal Emergency Management Plan is available on the Council website.

3.2 Operational management arrangements

3.2.1 Sub Plans & Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)

A number of Sub Plans have been written to detail specific emergency arrangements. The Sub Plans are hazard based and have been developed based on the risk to the community. Sub Plans are available to the public, via Council's website, where appropriate.

Sub Plans include:

- Knox Municipal Fire Management Plan
- Knox Storm and Flood Emergency Plan
- EMC EMP Eastern Metro Region Local Government Extreme Heat Plan
- EMC EMP Eastern Metro Region Local Government Pandemic Influenza Plan
- Knox Recovery Plan
- Relief Centre Sub Plan (Eastern Metropolitan Councils Emergency Management Partnership)
- Eastern Metropolitan Region Emergency Coordination Sub Plan
 - Part 1 Arrangements
 - Part 2 Standard Operating Procedures (SOPs)
 - Part 3 Role Statements
 - Part 4 Appendix

The maintenance of the Sub Plans is the responsibility of the MEMPC and is administered by the Coordinator Emergency Management.

3.2.2 Council's emergency management functions

Knox City Council accepts responsibility for management of municipal resources and the facilitation of community support and involvement to mitigate the consequences of an emergency during both the response to and recovery from emergencies.

This includes:

- The provision of supplementary supply (resources) to incident control and relief agencies during response and recovery.
- Municipal assistance to agencies during the response to and recovery from emergencies.
- The provision of emergency relief to affected persons during the response phase.
- The secondary and post impact assessment of community needs following the emergency.
- Recovery activities within the municipality, in consultation with the Department of Health and Human Services.

3.2.3 Council emergency management positions – roles and responsibilities

The *Emergency Management Act 1986, County Fire Authority Act 1958* and the Emergency Management Manual Victoria legislate and guide Council in the required emergency management roles to fulfil its emergency management responsibilities.

Role descriptions are detailed in Part 3 of the Eastern Metropolitan Region Emergency Coordination Sub Plan. A brief overview statement, accountability and authority of the positions are as follows:

Municipal Emergency Manager (MEM)

The MEM provides strategic emergency management advice and oversight during an incident, and ensures Council is responding effectively according to their responsibilities. The MEM is responsible for overall management and coordination of the delivery of Council's emergency management activities when activated.

Municipal Emergency Response Coordinator (MERC)

The MERC is a legislated position under the Emergency Management Act 2013 and is responsible for the effective coordination of emergency response within the municipality. The role is detailed in Part 3 of the Emergency Management Manual Victoria.

Municipal Emergency Resource Officer (MERO)

The MERO is responsible for the coordination of municipal resources including personnel and equipment to be used in emergency response, relief and recovery operations. This position operates with a high level of autonomy. Accountable for the efficient and effective management of Council's resources in relation to community emergencies.

The MERO is responsible for authorising relevant expenditure in accordance with Council delegations.



Planning arrangements

Municipal Recovery Manager (MRM)

The MRM is responsible for ensuring the coordinated allocation of resources and delivery of relief and recovery activities undertaken by Council and relief and recovery agencies in support of impacted individuals and communities.

In situations where recovery activities are likely to extend into the medium to longer term, the MRM may undertake strategic recovery planning to meet the needs of impacted communities in partnership with recovery agencies. This may include representing Council on Regional Recovery Teams convened by DHHS.

This position operates with a high level of autonomy and is accountable for the efficient and effective management of Council's resources in relation to community emergencies.

The MRM is responsible for authorising relevant expenditure in accordance with Council delegations.

Public Information Officer (PIO)

The PIO will gather, assemble and disseminate timely, tailored and relevant information to stakeholders. The PIO is accountable for all emergency public information (internal and external) activity.

Emergency Management Liaison Officer (EMLO)

Council's EMLO is a representative of Council that is typically located at the Incident Control Centre (ICC) as part of the Incident Emergency Management Team (IEMT).

They provide a communication link that enables Council (MERO and/or MRM) and the ICC to exchange information. The EMLO must pro-actively seek situational awareness and intelligence to inform relief and recovery requirements, community information, council operations and secondary impact assessment.

Regional Emergency Management Team (REMT) Representative

The REMT Representative acts on behalf of the Eastern Metropolitan Councils and liaises with the Regional Controller as part of the Regional Emergency Management Team. They play a key role in:

- coordination of local government resource supplementation needs from across the region;
- consolidating local government information for regional reporting (including impact assessment information); and
- supporting regional incident planning.

The REMT Representative represents the interests of councils in another agency's facility.

They have the authority to provide advice and guidance on behalf of councils in the region but must communicate all requests and complex matters back to each Council (MEM/MERO/MRM) to make the decision.

• The REMT Representative has no financial delegation or authority to deploy resources, but is authorised to arrange the commitment of Council owned or controlled resources on behalf of the Council(s) they represent in support of response, relief and recovery efforts.

Municipal Fire Prevention Officer (MFPO)

Knox City Council, under the CFA Act 1958, is required to appoint an MFPO to undertake and regularly review Council's fire prevention program. The role will maintain, update and document Councils Fire Hazard Inspection and Enforcement Program and provide regular reporting to the MEMPC.

The chart at Figure 1 shows the Council Emergency Operations Structure.



Figure 1. Council Emergency Operations Structure

Planning arrangements

3.3 Audit requirements and process

The ongoing administration and maintenance of this Plan is the responsibility of the Coordinator Emergency Management. Following MEMPC adoption of any amendments the Coordinator Emergency Management will implement the changes in the master plan managed by the Emergency Management team. Crisisworks and internet copies will also be replaced and the amended version emailed to the MEMPC distribution list.

This Plan is subject to audit every three years, or earlier, as determined by the Victoria State Emergency Service (VICSES). As per the arrangements detailed above, the Plan will be maintained on an ongoing basis and endorsed by the MEMPC, to ensure it remains current and reflective of legislative, operational and planning changes and/or amendments during the time between audits. The following process is implemented at audit to address all specified requirements:

- The Plan is reviewed in line with the audit requirements outlined in Part 6, Appendix 2 of the Emergency Management Manual Victoria (EMMV)
 or as otherwise determined by VICSES. This review is undertaken in collaboration with the assigned VICSES Regional Emergency Management Officer.
- All new updates and edits made to the pre-existing Plan will be presented to the MEMPC as per the process outlined above.
- Once endorsed by the MEMPC, the Plan will be presented to Council for adoption.
- The Plan will then be lodged with the State Library on the 'public document register'.
- Following MEMPC endorsement and Council adoption of the Plan, VICSES will convene an Audit Committee Meeting, including representatives from Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) and Victoria Police. The Plan will be audited and scored against specified criteria at this audit committee meeting.
- VICSES will formally notify Council in writing of the outcome of the audit and issue a Statement of Audit Certification for inclusion in the Plan.



4. Prevention/mitigation arrangements

4.1 Background/Introduction

Knox City Council recognises its key role in prevention and mitigation activities. Council's policies relating to land management and building codes ensure that all measures are addressed to reduce the likelihood and impact of emergencies.

The MEMPC plays a key role in prevention via the identification of potential hazards and their associated risks and consequences. These identified risks and consequence are then considered and specifically planned for during the development and implementation of plans, policies and procedures.

The ability of a community to respond to an emergency situation, and in turn recover from the effects of an emergency will depend greatly on the level of resilience the people affected inherently have. Knox, through its MEMPC, and its Sub Committees, will support appropriate prevention and awareness programs to encourage community resilience.

Prevention is defined as the development and implementation of strategies and associated measures to reduce the occurrence of and mitigate the consequences of identified emergency risks on the community and environment.

Preparedness focuses on ensuring the risks and management strategies identified in prevention planning are utilised. This will assist the local community to be aware of their risks and the potential consequences of a resulting emergency event and to inform and equip them with tools to implement resilience strategies for their own homes and families.

4.2 Risk assessment process

This Plan identifies and prioritises emergency risks that may potentially affect the Knox community and environment. The mitigation and awareness of these risks aims to minimise the effects and consequences of an emergency event on the community.

4.2.1 Community Emergency Risk Assessment (CERA)

The CERA process is designed to systematically identify hazards, determine risks and prioritise actions to reduce the likelihood and effects of an emergency. Over the past three years the MEMPC has reviewed the risks identified in the CERA and have updated and refined the risks and strategies for Knox.

The MEMPC considered emergency risk within the following context using the International Standard ISO 31000:

- Whole of community perspective;
- Responsibility for the whole municipality;
- Consideration of events which require multi agency responses;
- Consideration and acknowledgement of existing controls;
- Mitigation activities and their effectiveness, and
- Subsequent level of risk.

Risks were assessed and rated according to consequence and likelihood scales and risk matrices in the CERA tool kit. Through the CERA process an overall 'risk rating' ranging from medium to high was determined.

Prevention/mitigation arrangements

The updated list of risks in the municipality are:

Risk	Rating confidence	Residual risk rating
Storm	High	High
Fire - Bushfire	High	High
Human Epidemic/ Pandemic	High	High
Heatwave	High	Medium
Flash flood	High	Medium
HAZMAT	High	Medium
Road Traffic Incident	High	Medium
Fire - Structure	High	Medium
Service Disruption - Utilities>2 days	High	Medium

To ensure appropriate planning and mitigation strategies are in place for the risks identified, hazard specific plans have been developed and adopted as Sub Plans to this Plan. Additional plans detailing relief and recovery considerations, arrangements and planning have also been developed as Sub Plans.

The CERA was conducted in a manner that did not intend to exclude any form of emergency, with the document adopting a flexible "all hazards approach". The MEMPC is responsible for reviewing the CERA process at least once every three years prior to audit. The MEMPC continues to review risks as a standing agenda item for its quarterly meetings. This process will be administered by the Coordinator Emergency Management and, if required, an updated draft plan will be presented to the MEMPC for endorsement. Sub Plans will be reviewed for currency annually or as required. When required this work will be with the relevant sub-committee or working group for that hazard.

4.2.2 Victorian Fire Risk Register – Bushfire (VFRR-B)

The VFRR-B is a systematic process that helps to identify assets at risk from bushfire, assesses the level of risk to these assets and highlights the treatments currently in place along with the responsible agencies for implementing these strategies. Outputs from the VFRR-B inform and support this plan. The assets of the VFRR-B are divided into four classes; human settlement, economic, environmental, and cultural heritage.

The VFRR-B was used to identify and address bushfire risks within the Knox municipal area. The VFRR-B is reviewed as required. Risk identification is ongoing as the municipality changes.

4.2.3 Victorian Built Environment Risk Assessment Process (V-BERAP)

The V-BERAP provides a sound platform for conducting a structure fire risk assessment which is clearly defined by a robust 10 step process. The V-BERAP Guideline uses the methodology recognised in the National Emergency Risk Assessment Guidelines (NERAG) which is underpinned by ISO 31000, the International Standard for Risk Management. A risk working group of subject matter experts and key Council staff was formed. During the first workshop risks were identified by their building class via the following statement "There is potential that an accidental ignition will result in a fire in a:

- Class 2 building (flats, apartments)
- Class 8 building (factory)
- Class 1(a) building (house)
- Unregistered/illegal Class 1(b) building (boarding house)
- Class 9(c) building (aged care facility)
- Class 3 building (large boarding house)

that in turn will cause serious injury or loss of life, economic loss and/or displacement."

Using available evidence, the expertise in the room and participant agreement, the group identified the consequence categories for the above building classes to include - 'People' and 'Economy', with 'Social Setting' also identified for Class 2 and Class 1(b) buildings and 'Environment' also identified for Class 8 buildings. A risk assessment was then completed for each consequence category.

4.3 Community awareness and resilience

One increasing challenge facing the emergency management sector is balancing community expectation while promoting and building community resilience when dealing with, or preparing for emergencies. Raising awareness within the community about emergency risks and their potential consequences is the responsibility of all agencies including Council. There are a number of strategies used in education, awareness and resilience building programs to ensure a broad spectrum of the community are engaged.

Strategies currently utilised include:

- Hosting information on public websites
- Social media
- Distribution of brochures/print media
- School based disaster resilience education programs
- Mail outs
- Displays at festivals, shopping centres and within the community.

4.4 Emergency support staff

Knox has a comprehensive list of trained staff who do not have a substantive position in emergency management, but who have offered their skills to support Council during emergencies.

4.5 Emergency exercises

Knox identifies the need to be an active member in emergency management within the municipal emergency management and local community environments. Knox is actively involved in a number of areas to test preparedness and to assist in creating community resilience to emergency situations.

Knox is an active member of the Eastern Metro Councils Emergency Management Partnership EMC EMP and has participated in the annual Regional ERC exercise – Exercise East.

Knox has participated in multi-agency events and exercises including:

- Active Armed Offender Management Exercise November 2016
- Active Armed Offender Relief and Recovery Exercise – June 2017
- Exercise East 2017 Knox Council October 2017
- Exercise Connect EMLO Exercise North West Region – November 2017
- Active Armed Offender for Crowded Places Guideline - Whitehorse Council December 2017
- Marshalling Point Exercise Yarra Ranges -February 2018
- Resilient Recovery Workshop June 2018
- Exercise East 2018 Whitehorse and Maroondah Council - October 2018

5. Response Arrangements

5.1 Introduction

Emergency response focuses on the control of emergencies and the provision of rescue and immediate relief services for people affected by emergencies. This includes the provision for requests for physical assistance from regional, State and Commonwealth levels of government when municipal resources are exhausted.

Part 3 of the Emergency Management Manual Victoria (EMMV) outlines the State level arrangements for response in Victoria.

Emergency response operations are managed via three operational tiers which include State, regional and incident levels.

The following section outlines the arrangements in place for the activation and implementation of response activities for emergency events impacting the Knox municipality; including regional collaborative arrangements to facilitate effective response to emergency events that impact on an area larger than the municipality.

5.1.1 Definitions of Emergencies

Emergencies are classified into three classes according to the EMMV:

"Class 1 emergency" means a major fire; or any other major emergency for which the Metropolitan Fire and Emergency Services Board, the Country Fire Authority or the Victoria State Emergency Service Authority is the control agency under the State Emergency Response Plan.

"Class 2 emergency" means a major emergency which is not a Class 1 emergency; or a warlike act or act of terrorism, whether directed at Victoria or a part of Victoria or any other state or territory of the Commonwealth; or a hi-jack, siege or riot.

"Class 3 emergency" (also known as security emergencies) are classified as a warlike act or act of terrorism, where directed at Victoria or at any other state or Territory of the Commonwealth or a hi-jack, siege or riot.

5.2 Command, Control, Coordination, Consequence, Communication and Community Connection



Figure 2: Victoria's Emergency Management Arrangements, demonstrating Command, Control, Coordination and the Emergency Management Team.

Response Arrangements

5.2.1 Command

Command is the internal direction of personnel and resources, operating vertically within an agency. Each agency has a 'chain of command', which is the agency's organisational hierarchy that identifies the link between each individual and their supervisor.

5.2.2 Control

Control is the overall direction of response activities in an emergency, operating horizontally across agencies. In Victoria, authority for control is established in Part 3 of the EMMV (State Emergency Response Plan) with the agency responsible for control of emergency response (known as the 'Control Agency') being specified in Part 7 of the EMMV – Emergency Agency Roles.

5.2.3 Coordination

Coordination is the bringing together of agencies and resources to ensure effective response to and recovery from emergencies.

Emergency response coordinators bring together agencies and resources to support the response to emergencies.

Emergency recovery coordinators/managers bring together agencies and resources to support the provision of relief and recovery from emergencies.

5.2.4 Consequence

Consequence management involves the coordination of the activities of agencies with a role in delivering of services to the community, with the aim of minimising the adverse consequences of emergencies on the community. During a major emergency all agencies may need to activate their business continuity arrangements in order to manage the adverse consequences of the emergency on their area of responsibility.

Consequence management informs and is a precursor to relief and recovery activities. The Emergency Management Commissioner is responsible for consequence management for major emergencies but will be supported by agencies implementing their business continuity arrangements.

5.2.5 Communication

Communications relates to communicating to the public, reporting to government and communicating with stakeholder agencies during emergencies. The Emergency Management Commissioner is responsible for the communication function for major emergencies, but will be supported by the relevant Control Agency.

5.2.6 Community Connection

Safer and more resilient communities is always the aim of any emergency management planning. Community connection is around the understanding of and connecting with trusted networks, trusted leaders and all communities to support resilience and decision making.
5.2.7 Emergency Management Teams

The three tiers of control, scalable as required from incident through regional and on to state, support the six C's of Coordination, Control, Command, Consequence, Communication and Community Connection functions.

Incident Emergency Management Team (IEMT)

The IEMT supports the Incident Controller. Their focus is on managing the effect and consequences of the emergency.

Regional Emergency Management Team (REMT)

The REMT supports the RERC and those exercising control at a regional level (Regional Controllers). Their focus is to raise awareness of the emergency across the whole of government, identify and manage strategic risks and consequences and develop a regional strategic plan outlining high level actions of all agencies.

State Emergency Management Team (SEMT)

The State EMT (SEMT), is usually located at the State Control Centre or other location determined by the control agency.

If an emergency requires activation of a state tier response the SEMT is formed comprising senior representatives from response, recovery, support agencies and relevant departments. The role of the SEMT is to develop consistent situational awareness, identify strategic state risks and consequences and to develop a strategic plan with high level all agency actions.



Response Arrangements

5.3 Phases of activation

Response arrangements should be implemented at the earliest possible opportunity if the effects of emergencies are to be minimised, for this reason several phases of activation have been accepted by Knox City Council for internal activation. These are:



Figure 3 : Phases of activation

5.4 Local response arrangements and responsible agencies

Part 7 of the EMMV details a 'control agency' and 'support agencies' for a range of emergencies. It is the control agency's responsibility to plan for the relevant emergency and ensure that adequate resources are in place. Knox City Council is not a control agency but is a support agency for a range of emergencies.

Where there is any doubt as to who is the control agency, the Emergency Management Commissioner, RERC, MERC or Incident Emergency Response Coordinator (IERC) will determine who will exercise control.

Local incident response is coordinated at a municipal level by the MERO. The request usually comes from the coordinator of the response agency who is at the incident. The MERO attends to the requests received. The MERC/MERO may direct and authorise the use of physical resources in response to the local incident. Following the direction of the Incident Controller, the MERC, in consultation with the MERO, may direct the establishment of a MECC or a municipal relief centre to be placed on standby. The escalation of Council's response is to advise the MRM.

The objective of the response phase of this plan is to minimise the effects of an emergency on affected persons and property within the Knox municipality.

This is achieved by coordinating municipal resources to assist responding agencies, and in providing community support, as requested, or as the situation requires. The basic functions at a local level can include all or any of the following:

- Provision of resources as available and needed by the community and response agencies;
- Establishment of Municipal Emergency Coordination Centre – facilities and staffing;
- Under the direction of the control agency facilitate the delivery of warnings to the community;
- Guided by the control agency, provision of information to public and media;
- Coordination of the provision and operation of emergency relief centres and emergency shelters;
- Clearance of blocked drains and reinstatement of local roads, including tree removal and other physical works as deemed appropriate and where possible;
- Support to Victoria Police for partial/full road closures and determination of alternative routes; and
- Repairing or replacing damaged public utilities, services and assets.

5.5 Process for sourcing additional resources

Where additional resources are required beyond the original control agency, the Incident Controller should:

- Seek response agency resources directly through the response agency commanders.
- Seek supplementary resources, other than those of the responding agencies, through the IERC or MERC/MERO.
- Seek relief or recovery resources through the MRM/ through the IERC or MERC/MERO.

Response Arrangements

Following a request:

- The IERC or MERC will seek resources within the local area (through the MERO) and the MERC will escalate unfulfilled resource requests to the RERC.
- RERCs will seek resources within their region and escalate unfulfilled resource requests to the Emergency Management Commissioner.
- The Emergency Management Commissioner will seek resources from across the State, interstate or internationally where necessary.

Depending on the scale of the incident a MECC may be established by the IERC or MERC in consultation with the MERO.

Knox City Council is a signatory to the MAV Protocol for Inter-Council Emergency Management Resource Sharing.

5.6 Municipal Emergency Coordination Centre activation procedure

In the first instance, the control agency will notify the MERC that there is a requirement for additional resources. The MERC will then contact the MERO. At the municipal level, resources owned or under the control of Council may be used to supplement those of the control and support agencies.

Knox City Council's 24 hour number 9298 8000 also provides access to the Council MERO to initiate MEMP response arrangements as required. The activation level is dependent upon the scale of the emergency and is determined by the MERC in consultation with the MERO.

5.6.1 Level 1 - Small scale incidents (less than 24hr impact)

A small scale emergency that can be resolved through the use of local or initial response resources. The MECC might not necessarily be activated with the MERC and MERO in close communication at all times. Consequently the MERC and MERO will undertake the planning and logistics functions concurrently and will activate the MRM as required to provide relief and recovery support if required (virtual MECC). They will also monitor the emergency and its impact on the area, the community, the weather, and other elements/ variables that might lead to a higher level of activation.

5.6.2 Level 2 - Medium scale incidents

A medium scale emergency is more complex in size, resources or risk. The MECC may be activated. If activated the function will be the deployment of resources beyond initial response, and multi-agency representation in the MECC. The emergency may potentially require forward planning to address response issues, and for recovery during the response phase.

5.6.3 Level 3 - Large scale incidents

A large scale emergency is characterised by levels of complexity that require the activation and establishment of all MECC functions. This level of emergency will require forward planning as the emergency continues and will specifically require recovery planning during the early stages of the response phase of the emergency.

These descriptions are in line with the Australasian Inter Service Incident Management System (AIIMs) Classification of incidents. Further information on accessing supplementary supplies can found in Practice Note - Sourcing Supplementary Emergency Response Resources from Municipal Councils.

5.7 Municipal Emergency Coordination Centre

Knox City Council, through the MERO, is responsible for planning the establishment and operation of primary and alternative MECCs.

The purpose of the MECC is to provide a location for the coordination of Council and community resources in support of the response to emergencies. It is not the control centre for an emergency. An Incident Control Centre may be established by the control agency if the emergency is significant enough to warrant it.

The MECC will be activated only to the level of activity necessary in providing support to the emergency. In minor events this might involve only a few staff, through to a major emergency requiring significant resources over a long period.

The function of emergency coordination for Council can be undertaken easily from a variety of locations which provide flexible options including operating on site or at ICC if required.

5.7.1 Council resources list

A list of resources owned by Council is located in Appendix D – Council resources list. This list also includes a range of contractors where non-Council owned resources can be obtained.

A copy of this list is also included in Crisisworks.

5.8 Financial considerations

Financial accounting for municipal resources utilised in emergencies must be authorised by the MEM, MERO or the MRM and shall be in accordance with the normal financial arrangements of Knox City Council.

Control agencies are responsible for all costs involved in that agency responding to an emergency. Depending on the magnitude of the emergency some government financial assistance may be available for prevention, response and recovery activities. Knox City Council is accountable for any monies donated to it as a result of any emergency event and will implement systems to receive and account for all such donations.

5.9 Evacuation

Evacuation is the planned relocation of persons from dangerous or potentially dangerous areas to safer areas and their eventual return. The decision to evacuate rests with the control agency in conjunction with Police and available expert advice, unless time constraints prevent this consultation.

Evacuation may be undertaken by individuals, families and households on their own volition and independent of any advice, or it may be after an assessment of information provided by a control agency.

Response Arrangements

Examples of events that may require immediate evacuation include fire, floods, hazardous materials accidents/incidents, air crash or earthquake. In some life threatening circumstances, and in an effort to preserve live, this decision to evacuate may be made by any agency representative and in these circumstances, the Incident Controller must be notified of this decision as soon as possible.

Once the decision to evacuate has been made, the MERC and Council representatives (MEM, MERO and MRM) should be contacted.

The MERO/MRM will assist the MERC by:

- Arranging a suitable assembly area if the pre-determined locations are not appropriate.
- Providing transport resources and the determination of the location to which evacuees will be asked to attend.
- Establishing and activating emergency relief centres including consideration of which location is the most appropriate in the circumstances.
- Providing advice on local area information to assist with the traffic flow of evacuated persons out of the area and emergency services into the area.
- Providing vulnerable person/facility information and advice for relocation and other relief services.

In Victoria, evacuation is largely voluntary. The Incident Controller makes a recommendation to evacuate and it is the choice of individuals as to how they respond to this recommendation.

However in particular circumstances legislation provides some emergency service personnel with authority to remove people from areas or prohibit their entry. The Emergency Management Act 1986 Section 36A makes provision for the declaration by Police of an emergency area if normal community activities and freedom of movement must be restricted because of the size, nature or location of an emergency, and when the extreme powers available under a declared state of disaster are not needed or would take too long to implement. People and vehicles may be prevented from remaining in or entering the emergency area. However this power is limited when a person claims pecuniary interest in a property or goods or valuables in a property within the emergency area. If the person claiming pecuniary interest is not on that property, they can be directed to leave or prevented from entering the emergency area. However if they are located on the property then they cannot be required to leave.

By exception, the *Terrorism (Community Protection) Act 2003* (Sections 16, 18 & 21) provides that a senior officer of Police, if suspecting that an area has, or people in that area may have been exposed to such contamination by a terrorist act, may authorise a member of the force to direct a person or groups of persons to enter, not to enter, or to leave, any particular premises or area. Police may use reasonable and necessary force to ensure compliance with any authorised direction.

When the possibility of an evacuation is being considered, Victoria Police will identify a member to take the role of Evacuation Manager (EMMV: Appendix 9 Evacuation Guidelines). The Evacuation Manager should be co-located with the Incident Controller at the ICC, or if no ICC exists, at the location where control is exercised.

5.10 Public information and warnings

Emergency warning systems have been established to warn individuals and communities in the event of a major emergency. Although these systems aim to improve the ability to warn communities about emergencies, individuals and communities still need to prepare themselves in case of an emergency.

It is important to ensure that public information and warnings are maintained at an optimum level for specific circumstances where community action is necessary, primarily to protect lives, and also for the protection of property and environment.

The localised arrangements for warnings and information come from the State Emergency Response Plan.

The Incident Controller is responsible for issuing warnings and community information.

Where an extreme and imminent threat to life exists and authorisation from the Incident Controller is not practicable in the circumstances, warnings may be issued by any response agency personnel with notification to the Incident Controller as soon as possible.

The Emergency Coordination Sub Plan outlines the roles and accountability in the municipal context.

5.11 Neighbourhood Safer Places (places of last resort) and fire refuges

Neighbourhood safer places and community fire refuges can be provided for community as last resort survival options. They do not replace having a well thought out and practiced survival plan.

Knox does not have any designated Neighbourhood Safer Places or fire refuges, given there are a number of accessible areas such as shopping centres, libraries and other community facilities available.

5.12 Emergency Relief Centres

Knox Council will utilise the most appropriate facility at the time, in consultation with the control agency.

All relief centre information can be found in the Emergency Relief Centre Sub Plan.

5.13 Planning for cross municipality events

Planning for both response and recovery at the regional level is always necessary as emergencies respect no boundaries and will often traverse multiple municipal boundaries.

Further, planning for cross boundary events is necessary as often services provided by State government agencies are administered and delivered at a regional level.

Knox has participated in a number of cross Council, multi agency training exercises to better prepare for emergencies which have the potential to affect numerous Council boundaries.

Response Arrangements

Knox is a member of the Eastern Metropolitan Councils Emergency Management Partnership (EMC EMP) and is represented on a number of regional working groups helping to build regional relationships and support to strengthen Councils' ability to support each other in emergencies.

New and emerging risks are communicated both at regional planning committees and through regional partnerships.

5.14 Inter-council resource sharing

Knox City Council is a signatory to the 'Protocol for Inter-Council Emergency Management Resource Sharing' coordinated by the Municipal Association of Victoria (MAV). The Protocol provides an agreed position between councils for the provision of inter-council assistance for response and recovery activities during an emergency.

A copy of the Protocol is located at mav.asn.au/ policy-services/emergency-management/Pages/ resource-sharing-protocol.aspx.

This Protocol is most commonly enacted for emergency support staff requests to fulfil MECC and ERC shifts. Requests for resources from another Council should be made through the MERO.

5.15 Debriefing arrangements

For local level emergencies, the MERC is responsible for ensuring the control agency for the emergency organises an operational debrief with participating agencies as soon as practicable after the cessation of response activities. The aim of a debrief is to assess the adequacy of the response activities and recommend any changes to relevant agency plan(s) and future operational response activities.

The Regional Emergency Response Coordinator (RERC) holds these responsibilities for regional level events, which must include local response agency participation.

Where a MECC has been activated during an emergency, all emergency support staff that undertook their allocated MECC roles will be debriefed by the Coordinator Emergency Management and/or the MERO as soon as practicable following the cessation of MECC operations.

This debrief will be delivered with an aim to assess the adequacy of the MECC operations and to identify and make recommendations for future planning and operations related to the MECC. Psychological debriefing will also be made available as required.

5.16 Response to recovery transition

Transition requirements to effectively transfer control and coordination responsibilities from response agencies to relief/recovery agencies is required for all major incidents and may also be required for local level incidents that have resulted in significant impacts on the local community requiring continued provision of relief and/or recovery services.

The MERO, MRM and MERC will start planning for the transition from response to relief/recovery, as soon as possible following the initial impact of an emergency.

Relief typically commences at the same time as response activities, and therefore formalised transition from the response (during) phase to relief and recovery (after) is deemed to be at the point when the control activities associated with the emergency have ceased, and the provision for relief and/or early recovery services continue to be required by the affected community.

Issues to be considered for the timing of transition from response and recovery include:

- The nature of the emergency and what ongoing specialist resources are required;
- Whether a recurring threat is likely to occur compounding the impact on the community;
- The extent of the impact on communities, as this may determine the length of the transition period;

- The level of loss/damage and the extent to which this has been validated (the stage of impact assessment reached eg. if phasing into secondary/ post impact stages may indicate transition requirements);
- The extent to which the community requires emergency relief services;
- The resources required for the activation of recovery arrangements; and
- The transition agreement will be developed at the appropriate level between the response agency Incident Controller, MERC, MERO, MRM and the recovery agency coordinator (typically DHHS).

The Knox Recovery Sub Plan provides details on how the coordination of activities, resources and information is managed effectively between the response agencies to the recovery organisations to support this changeover or responsibility.

6. Relief and recovery arrangements

6.1 Introduction

Emergency relief is the provision of essential needs to individuals, families and communities in the immediate aftermath of an emergency. Relief services could be provided at the site of an emergency, a dedicated relief centre, places of community gathering, isolated communities, transit sites or other safe locations as appropriate. Relief is the first stage of recovery and must be seamlessly integrated with all other early recovery activities.

Recovery is assisting individuals and communities affected by emergencies to achieve an effective level of functioning. Recovery planning must ensure that there is a clear understanding of the community context (prior to the emergency) and is based on continuing assessment of impacts and needs.

Both relief and recovery begin when an emergency occurs and many response, relief and recovery activities are undertaken concurrently. Typically, relief is provided during and in the immediate aftermath of an emergency. Recovery is generally a longer term process for affected individuals and communities.

6.2 Municipal relief arrangements

Emergency relief is the provision of immediate shelter, life support, and personal needs of people affected by, or responding to an emergency. It includes the establishment, management and provision of services to emergency relief/recovery centres.

Council is responsible for the local relief arrangements such as the establishment and management of emergency relief centres.

6.2.1 Management structure

A request may come from an ICC to open an ERC to support an emergency. In consultation with the Incident Controller the selection of an ERC will be determined by the MERO, in consultation with the MERC and the MRM.

6.2.2 Summary of relief arrangements, roles and responsibilities

Council is responsible for the coordination and provision of relief services for affected community during times of emergency. Knox is an active member of the Eastern Metro Councils Emergency Management Partnership (EMC EMP) and has adopted the Emergency Relief Centre Sub Plan. The Sub Plan details the arrangements that are in place for the activation, management and deactivation of ERCs for municipal and regional scale events.

An ERC is a building or place established to provide (temporary) support and essential needs to persons affected by or involved in the management of an emergency. The Centre will provide for basic needs only including shelter, food and water. Emergency relief agencies may also set up at the centre to provide emergency affected people with grants, material aid, Register Find Reunite, first aid, accommodation, and psychosocial support.

Relief and recovery arrangements

Further details on the roles and responsibilities of government and community organisations involved in the provision of relief services are detailed in the Emergency Relief Centre Sub Plan.

The ERC is managed by a range of trained ERC staff and supported by Council's emergency support staff as required. Knox City Council is a member of the Eastern Metropolitan Councils Emergency Management Partnership (EMC EMP) and has arrangements in place for trained staff to support the operation of ERC services when local resources are overwhelmed. There may be occasions when Knox will set up a relief centre, locally in support of an emergency in another municipality, for example Yarra Ranges Council.

Knox City Council has three regional ERCs. Details of these Centres including roles and responsibilities, standby arrangements, activation, set up and deactivation, copies of Facility Plans including traffic management plans are available in the Emergency Relief Centre Sub Plan.

6.2.3 Role of Department of Health and Human Services in relief/recovery

Emergency Management Victoria (EMV) is responsible for state-level relief and recovery coordination.

Relief and recovery coordination arrangements at the regional levels are the responsibility of DHHS and municipal councils have the responsibility at the local level.

6.3 Recovery arrangements

Section 46 of the *Emergency Management Act 2013* appoints the Emergency Management Commissioner with the responsibility for the coordination of agencies in line with the State Emergency Recovery Plan. Municipal councils take the lead in delivering on the ground relief and recovery services, because they are closest to an affected community. The Victorian government supports municipalities to fulfil these local responsibilities.

Figure 4 shows the relationship between State, regional and local level for relief and recovery coordination.

Relief and recovery arrangements



Figure 4: The three levels of relief and recovery coordination in Victoria

Section 4.6 of the Emergency Management Manual Victoria (EMMV) outlines municipal responsibilities for relief and recovery. The requirements include:

- Development and implementation of the MEMP;
- Forming and convening of the MEMPC;
- Appointment of a MRM;
- The aligned responsibilities of the MERO for notification to the MRM for relief and recovery needs during emergencies;
- Leading the provision of local public information to affected individuals in relief and recovery;
- Participation in local relief and recovery impact assessments – sharing any information gathered with Victorian Government agencies, as requested; and
- Development and maintenance of a Relief and Recovery Plan that is aligned with the requirements specified in Appendix 7, Part 4 of the EMMV.

In the City of Knox, planning and preparedness for recovery is undertaken by the Recovery Planning Sub Committee (RPSC). This Committee reports to the MEMPC.

Relief and recovery are responsibilities that require collaboration and coordination shared between individuals and communities, non-government organisations, businesses and government agencies.

A range of Council service units, external agencies and organisations form the RPSC, which is chaired by the Municipal Recovery Manager (MRM). The Deputy Chairs of this committee are the Deputy MRMs. Operational recovery at the municipal level is driven by the four environments of social, economic, built, and natural.

6.3.1 Objectives of recovery

Recovery at all levels of government is implemented in alignment with the nationally recognised disaster recovery principles, to ensure successful recovery is delivered to affected communities. These principles are:

- Understanding the context
- Recognising complexity
- Using community-led approaches
- Coordinating all activities
- Communicating effectively
- Recognising and building capacity

Recovery requires collaboration between individuals, communities, all levels of government, non-government organisations and businesses across four inter-related recovery environments:

1. Social environment – the emotional, social, spiritual, financial and physical wellbeing of affected individuals and communities;

2. Built environment – the restoration of essential and community infrastructure;

3. Economic environment - the revitalisation of the affected economy; and

4. Natural environment – the rehabilitation of the affected environment.

Recovery initiatives may address specific elements of one or multiple aspects of the above recovery environments.

The functional areas of recovery; social, built, economic and natural environments; will lead the recovery planning process at the municipal level. The implementation of recovery requirements in each of the functional environments will be coordinated by the MRM.

The primary responsibility for each of the relevant functional environments will be assigned to the relevant area(s) within Council.

6.3.2 Recovery Centre activation

A Recovery Centre should be a one-stop-shop offering services appropriate to assist the community in recovery. The MRM together with the MERO will identify an appropriate venue for a Recovery Centre. Details of these arrangements are contained in the Recovery Sub Plan.

6.3.3 Government funding

The Victorian Government provides funding through the Natural Disaster Relief and Recovery Arrangements (NDRRA) Fund to assist the Victorian community through natural disaster relief and recovery payments and infrastructure restoration. Details of these arrangements are contained in the Eastern Metropolitan Region Emergency Coordination Sub Plan.

APPENDIX A ADMINISTRATION

Amendment history

No.	Amendment date	Amendment details
1	14 November 2018	Major revision and formatting changes in readiness for 7 March 2019 audit by VICSES.
2	28 November 2018	Draft Plan presented to the MEMPC.
3	1-17 December 2018	Further amendments and comments incorporated from MEMPC consultation. Rewrite of sections in prevention, response, relief and recovery arrangements.

Distribution list

This Plan is made available at knox.vic.gov.au.

Members of the Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee (MEMPC) may also access this Plan via the Library Tab in Crisisworks.

As required by the EMMV, a hard copy has been sent to the State Library of Victoria, 328 Swanston St, Melbourne VIC 3000.

APPENDIX B CONTACT DIRECTORY

(NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION)

ACTIVATION OF THE PLAN

In the event of an emergency within the Knox municipal area, contact the Knox Police Station on 9881 7000 and ask for the Senior Sergeant/MERC who will activate the Municipal Emergency Management Plan (MEMP).

The Municipal Emergency Resource Officer can also activate the MEMP 24 hours a day on 9298 8000.

APPENDIX C SPECIAL PLANS AND ARRANGEMENTS

Hazard Sub Plans

Knox Municipal Fire Management Plan

Knox Storm and Flood Emergency Plan

Eastern Metro Region Local Government Extreme Heat Plan

Eastern Metro Local Government Pandemic Influenza Plan

Sub Plans

Knox Municipal Recovery Plan

Emergency Relief Centre Sub Plan - Eastern Metropolitan Councils Emergency Management Partnership

Eastern Metropolitan Region Emergency Coordination Sub Plan

Functional Plans

Eastern Metropolitan Councils Emergency Animal Welfare Plan

Knox Public Health Plan

Arrangements and other documents

Knox Municipal Emergency Management Planning Committee Terms of Reference

Disaster Recovery Tool Kit

Emergency Relief Cente Facility Management Plans

Practice Note - Sourcing Supplementary Emergency Response Resources from Municipal Councils

APPENDIX D COUNCIL RESOURCES LIST

(NOT FOR PUBLIC DISTRIBUTION)



Knox City Council 511 Burwood Highway Wantirna South VIC 3152 **knox.vic.gov.au**

- T +61 3 9298 8000
- F +61 3 9800 3096
- E knoxcc@knox.vic.gov.au
- f knoxcouncil
- 🖌 knoxcc
- knoxcouncil
- 133 677 (ask for 03 9298 8000)
 Interpreter
 131 450



Speak and Listen Users 1300 555 727 (ask for 03 9298 8000)

ABN 24 477 480 661 188 of 458

7 Public Question Time

Following the completion of business relating to Item 6, City Development, the business before the Council Meeting will now be deferred to consider questions submitted by the public.

8 Engineering & Infrastructure Officers' Reports for consideration

8.1 Council's Masterplan Status Report

SUMMARY: Coordinator – Open Space and Landscape Design, Andrea Szymanski

This report has been prepared in response to a Council resolution from the Ordinary Council Meeting 22 September 2015, 'that a status report (for Open Space & Activity Centre Streetscape Masterplans) be updated and reported to Council on an annual basis, to assist Council with the Budget development process'.

This report focuses on masterplans for Council's Open Space and notes Activity Centre Streetscapes.

RECOMMENDATION

That Council receives the current status report of Council's Masterplans for Open Space and Activity Centre Streetscapes.

1. INTRODUCTION

This report incorporates a requirement from Council (Ordinary Council Meeting of 22 September 2015), for the status report to include:

Endorsed masterplans, including:

- Year endorsed by Council;
- Estimated percentage complete;
- Stages completed, where applicable;
- Stages currently funded (within the current financial year);
- Stages yet to be completed, where applicable, including the major components (eg. car parking, pavilion, play facilities, etc.) and the anticipated funding sources; and
- Masterplans currently under development (within the current financial year).

For a detailed masterplan status summary, refer Attachment 1.

2. DISCUSSION

Masterplans are usually prepared as part of Council's Capital Works Program and are intended to:

- Demonstrate a clear and concise intent and vision for a site;
- Reflect Council and community aspirations for a particular location;
- Address, were reasonable, issues and concerns that are present;
- Bring together competing and complementary opportunities to improve the public open space and landscape amenity, for the benefit of the community, stakeholders and the environment; and
- Guide future investment, in a way that ensures improvements undertaken in the short-term are not likely to prohibit long-term improvement opportunities.

Masterplans are prepared for a variety of Council assets or locations including:

• Active and passive public open spaces;

- Activity Centres; and
- Public Buildings.

It is of note that not all reserves require a masterplan.

For the purposes of this report, only masterplans that pertain to public open space and activity centres have been included.

Public Open Space

The development of masterplans for open space is guided by the Knox Open Space Plan 2012-2022 and considered annually, during the capital works budgeting process.

Activity Centres

In the case of activity centres, employment precincts, industrial precincts or other commercial services areas, upgrades requiring a masterplans are identified by broader, overarching and holistic, strategic planning, eg. Structure Plan.

Structure plans provide a strategic overview of the social, economic and environmental improvements that need to be accommodated.

Infrastructure changes, which subsequently require masterplans, advance part of a structure plan's objectives.

2.1 Masterplans for Open Space

Generally, masterplans for open space include a range of improvement opportunities and asset renewal projects, which may include but not be limited to:

- New paths;
- New park furniture;
- Improved play spaces;
- Improved sports pavilions and change rooms;
- Improved car parking;
- Unstructured recreation elements such as, half-court basketball courts;
- Fitness equipment;
- BBQ, picnic and recreation facilities;
- Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CEPTED) principles;
- Stormwater retention opportunities;
- Biodiversity enhancements; and
- Sporting facilities such as, cricket nets, lighting and oval fencing.

Open space also considers the need to accommodate other stakeholder groups/users such as seniors' groups, childcare centers and kindergartens.

These facilities present different issues and associated opportunities that may or may not be able to be addressed via the masterplanning process.

However, the masterplanning process is designed to provide a holistic approach to management of the site and identify issues for further consideration by Council.

2.2 Activity Centre Masterplans

Activity Centre masterplans are generally intended to improve the business, customer and community experience in a nominated locality.

Locations are generally local retail centres but may include employment precincts, industrial precincts or other commercial services areas.

Activity Centre masterplans are often prepared following the development of a structure plan. For example, the Upper Ferntree Gully Streetscape Design was prepared in conjunction with the Upper Ferntree Gully Strategic Plan.

The Service Plan – Place Program, October 2016, reviewed the Place Program and its evolution, over seven years, from a place management initiative (ie. streetscape upgrades) to a diverse service, involving longer-term planning and delivery (e.g. structure planning), funded by operational budgets, the capital works budget and grant funding when available.

The Service Plan determined that, the future of the service was to focus on building partnerships to improve key places in Knox while maximising the benefits from Council's limited resources.

Hence, the new service direction is about Council working in a more integrated and cross-sector way to address challenges and maximise opportunities for the benefit of the present and future Knox community. In essence, the former Place Program has ceased and City Futures is developing innovative ways to deliver community outcomes and alternative forms of capital raising options for infrastructure, rather than the design and delivery of capital projects in activity centres, which is now a service provided by Community Infrastructure.

Consequently, with the exception of Upper Ferntree Gully, the Capital Works - Place Program has no projects currently listed.

However, a future program may need to be considered which will integrate Council's capital works renewal programs with opportunities to upgrade its activity centre streetscapes.

2.3 Current Status of Masterplans

Council has twenty-eight (28) current, endorsed masterplans, with a further two (2) due to be considered by Council within the 2018/19 financial year (ie. Lewis Park Masterplan and the Knox Regional Netball Centre Masterplan).

- Three (3) of the endorsed masterplans are complete.
- Eight (8) are substantially complete (approximately 75% to 99%).
- Six (6) have 50% to 74% of the proposed works completed.
- Eighteen (18) masterplans are staged for ongoing delivery and development in the 2018/19 financial year.
- There are four (4) landscape plans scheduled for development in 2020/21, subject to capital works consideration.

Following the recent Boronia Renewal strategic planning works, Boronia Park Masterplan may be scheduled for development in the 2019/20 year, subject to Council approval of a Business Case for the project.

A list of all current masterplans for Open Space and Activity Centres is presented in Attachment 1.

This list includes a summary of:

- Year endorsed by Council;
- Estimated percentage complete;
- Stages completed where applicable;

- Stages currently funded (within current financial year); and
- Stages yet to be completed where applicable, including the major components (eg. car parking, pavilion, play facilities, etc.) and the anticipated funding sources.

2.4 Master Plan Implementation/Funding – Open Space

When Council has adopted a masterplan, it is referred to Council's Capital Works Program (CWP), although funds are allocated, on occasion, prior to formal adoption of a masterplan to enable prompt implementation.

The majority of funding for open space masterplans is allocated from Council's Open Space Reserve – Unstructured Recreation Program, with the majority of works staged over two – three years.

In addition to Open Space Reserve funding, masterplan implementation often includes expenditure on renewing existing assets, eg. footpaths, play spaces, furniture, pavements or other items eligible for Council's renewal programs such as planting and drainage improvements. When this occurs, the intent is to design and deliver capital works assets and infrastructure upgrades with the delivery of masterplan features and open space upgrades in order to achieve the most cost-effective outcome for the community and minimise disruption during construction.

Funding for specific sports facilities such as, pavilions, sports lighting, fencing, etc. is guided by the Leisure, Minor Capital Works Grant Scheme Policy 2017. However, where a masterplan proposes an improvement or change to sporting facilities, it may be some time before implementation, given a requirement for co-funding from the sporting group involved and potential for State and/or Federal funding.

Funding for other items such as carparks has historically been given low priority, unless the existing location is an impediment to other improvements, which will benefit a significant number of community members.

Consequently, when a masterplan is prepared and adopted by Council, it may not be fully implemented, as Council is not always the funding body for all components of the masterplan; some are future opportunities and all proposed works are considered against set criteria and other masterplan projects. In addition, during the staged delivery of various masterplans, their currency and priorities may change, and new needs are identified.

In summary, a Council endorsed masterplan essentially provides a clear vision for the reserve, which assists in the staged delivery of priority works balanced against the competing needs of other reserves and assists in seeking external funding opportunities.

2.5 Master Plan Implementation/Funding – Activity Centres

When Council has endorsed a structure plan, a masterplan or detailed concept plan usually follows.

Funding for this program has generally been from rate revenue or State/Federal government grants.

However, the new Place Program service is expected to find more innovative ways of delivering community outcomes and infrastructure.

2.6 Local Reserves Planning

There are many smaller, local reserves, which are not of enough land size or use, to be considered for a masterplan.

However, where there is a playground located in a reserve it may be subject to a plan prepared under the Playground Renewal Program, which is consistent with the Knox Play Space Plan.

Council has renewed fourteen (14) play spaces as part of the Playground Renewal Program in the past two (2) years and there is currently an additional six (6) play spaces scheduled for renewal by the end of the 2018/19 financial year.

As part of the development of these playgrounds, the local community is consulted to gain an understanding of local aspirations for the reserve as a family play space. In turn, this informs the playground design and associated infrastructure, e.g. natural play spaces, furniture, paths, planting and signage.

When play spaces are identified for renewal, the Open Space and Landscape Design Team works with other internal Council teams such as, Park Maintenance, Assets, Stormwater, Biodiversity and Knox Construction to consider if any other features in the reserve could also benefit from upgrade or renewal. This enables an integrated approach to local reserve upgrades.

2.7 Summary

Council has taken an approach that ensures that areas of identified need are considered for improvements, via a masterplan process.

Adopting a masterplanning approach ensures that investment in new and renewed infrastructure is aligned and optimised in an integrated manner and meets with community aspirations.

Masterplans should also take into account the level of service Council can provide for each reserve.

The development of a masterplan considers the initial implementation cost of new and renewed assets/infrastructure in the short and long term. Design and selection of materials affects ongoing maintenance costs, which are considered to ensure that works delivered can be maintained to a standard considered acceptable by the community.

3. CONSULTATION

Masterplans are developed with community, Council and other external government agency input.

The various strategic plans that guide the prioritisation of masterplans are also subject to community consultation.

In addition, the annual capital budgetary process, which lists the financial requirements for the nominated projects, is subject to community review and comment.

4. ENVIRONMENTAL/AMENITY ISSUES

The development of masterplans to guide capital investment in locations across the municipality ensures that all opportunities are considered in order to maximise environmental, social and economic potential.

5. FINANCIAL & ECONOMIC IMPLICATIONS

A number of Capital Works Sub-Programs contribute to the implementation of masterplans including:

- New and Upgrade Capital Program incorporating the Unstructured Recreation Program and the Structured Sporting Reserves Program; and
- Asset Renewal Capital Works Programs, including Playgrounds, Drainage, Park Assets and Facilities (buildings).

The balance of funds in Council's Open Space Reserve, as at the end of January 2019, is approximately \$15 million.

The balance of Council's Open Space Reserve funding has increased by 45% over the past four (4) years.

This recent spike in growth to the Open Space Reserve directly correlates with the steady increase of development within the municipality. It is of note that, development and therefore open space contributions will become more limited over time.

Activity Centre Streetscape Masterplans were historically funded though the Place Program, various asset renewal programs and external grants.

Approximately \$7 million has been expended in Activity Centre Streetscapes Masterplans to date.

6. SOCIAL IMPLICATIONS

Considered masterplans help to provide social cohesion, generated though the community engagement processes, in the development of masterplans and an immediate improvement in social amenity, by their implementation.

As part of the previous 2018/19 budget process, Council provided its support to deliver endorsed masterplans in a shorter period ie. two - three years, where possible.

In the 2018/19 year to date, Council has delivered a number of key masterplan features across a range of open spaces (eg. Templeton Reserve, Talaskia Reserve and Marie Wallace) and the local communities have responded by expressing their appreciation for the works.

As part of the masterplan delivery process, Council has a large number of additional open space upgrades and improvements planned across the municipality.

As housing and living typologies change, Knox's open spaces will become critical places for meeting and gathering with family and friends, for relaxation and for respite. These open spaces will need to accommodate a range of passive and active recreation functions and enable stormwater management, biodiversity improvements and equitable access for all ages and all members of the community.

7. RELEVANCE TO KNOX COMMUNITY AND COUNCIL PLAN 2017-2021

Goal 1 - We value our natural and built environment

Strategy 1.1 - Protect and enhance our natural environment

Strategy 1.2 - Create a greener city with more large trees, indigenous flora and fauna

Strategy 1.3 - Ensure the Knox local character is protected and enhanced through the design and location of urban development and infrastructure

8. CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Under section 80c of the Local Government Act 1989 officers providing advice to Council must disclose any interests, including the type of interest.

Author – Coordinator - Open Space and Landscape Design, Andrea Szymanski - In providing this advice as the Author, I have no disclosable interests in this report.

Officer Responsible – Director, Engineering and Infrastructure, Ian Bell

Manager, Community Infrastructure, David Yeouart - In providing this advice as the Officer Responsible, I have no disclosable interests in this report.

9. CONCLUSION

Since the adoption of the Knox Open Space Plan in 2012, Council continues to make significant advances in improving its open space network, by setting priorities.

Council has a significant number of masterplans in progress and this report reflects the works done to date to enable future considerations.

Council has recently reduced the delivery time (ie. staging) of approved projects, which has been well received by the community.

10. CONFIDENTIALITY

There are no items of a confidential nature in this report.

Report Prepared By: Coordinator - Open Space and Landscape Design - Andrea Szymanski

Report Authorised By: Director, Engineering and Infrastructure, Ian Bell

Manager, Community Infrastructure, David Yeouart

Attachments

1. Masterplan Progress Report Attachment 1 [8.1.1]

Masterplan progress

Masterplan Progress Summary 2019

Open Space and Landscape Design Team

BAYSWATER Marie Wallace Bayswater Park

BORONIA Chandler Park **Tormore Reserve**

FERNTREE GULLY

Quarry Reserve Dobson Street Reserve Fairpark Reserve Ferntree Gully Village Square Mountain Gate Shopping Centre Reserve Pickett's Reserve Tim Neville Arboretum Knox Regional Netball Centre* **HV** Jones Reserve

KNOXFIELD

Carrington Park Gilbert Park Knox Park **RD Egan Lee Reserve**

ROWVILLE Stud Park Reserve Arcadia Reserve Row Reserve **Peregrine Reserve**

SCORESBY Benedikt Reserve Scoresby Reserve Scoresby Village

UPPER FERNTREE GULLY Talaskia Reserve Upper Ferntree Gully Streetscape

WANTIRNA **Templeton Reserve** Wantirna Reserve

WANTIRNA SOUTH David Cooper Park Llewellyn Reserve Lewis Park*

FUTURE MASTERPLANS

The vision for our open space is one which will be sustainable, attractive and green. It will provide for a diversity of leisure actives, and enable people to enjoy nature, engage with others, learn and play. Our open space network will be well-connected and accessible, and contribute to the natural systems of the city. Council's Open Space Plan 2012-2022

Attachment 8.1.1

2019

Note: * subject to Council endorsement



Attachment 8.1.1 Masterplan progress 2019

Marie Wallace Bayswater Park

Endorsed by Council 2015

Estimate complete 90%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Performance stage, viewing lawn, picnic facilities, toilet block, concreate walls, decommissioning of power lines and road widening and new car parks completed. Water park feasibility study completed and presented to Issues Briefing in March 2018, which did not support the development of a water park at this location. Artwork to walls completed June 2018. Dog park investigation endorsed by Council in Nov 2018, which did not support a dog park at this site. Bike training area, natural play and additional BBQ and picnic facilities completed in Dec 2018. 	 Bridge design and construction scheduled for Feb 2019. Reserve signage, spectators viewing area, gym equipment stations currently being designed and scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	



198 of 458

Chandler Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2003/2004

Estimate complete 95%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Play space, picnic and BBQ facilitates and social activity area completed in 2017. 	• Tree and garden planting and final path connection scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget	
 Netball courts resurfaced with new lighting completed in 2017. 	approval.	



Attachment 8.1.1 Masterplan progress 2019

Tormore Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2015

Estimate complete 50%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Paths connections, furniture, carpark modifications and new cricket nets completed. Pedestrian solar lighting scheduled for delivery in early 2019. Detailed design of play space, picnic shelter, viewing terraces and active social space in progress and scheduled for delivery by June 30 2019. 	 Design and delivery of carpark upgrades and coaches boxes, subject to budget approval. 	



Attachment 8.1.1 Masterplan progress 2019

Quarry Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2009, revised 2015 additional ERMP works 2018

Estimate complete 70%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Quarry Road surfacing, carparking, all ability path connection to water's edge, terraces and boardwalk completed. Landslip monitoring continues. Water tests have been commissioned. Tasks were identified in the recent Environmental and Risk Management Plan (ERMP). These tasks/outcomes were presented and supported by Council in Nov 2018. Weed eradication and revegetation works (including goats) in progress. 	 Detailed design of play space, BBQ and picnic facilities with drinking fountain in progress and scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	 Detailed design and delivery of new water access, fishing pontoons, viewing platform from Lady Talbot Drive, signage and path upgrade, subject to future capital works budget approval.



Dobson Street Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2015

Estimate complete 100%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 New retarding basin, renewal of play space and associated infrastructure and planting complete. 		



Attachment 8.1.1 Masterplan progress 2019

Fairpark Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2015

Estimate complete 60%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Toilet block, social space including BBQ and picnic facilities complete. Playspace scheduled for delivery in Feb 2019. Currently liaising with Melbourne Water regarding daylighting Blind Creek from Manuka Drive to Scoresby Road, scheduled for delivery in Feb 2019. AFL football goal netting scheduled for delivery in early 2019. Detailed design of carpark improvements in progress. 	 Carpark improvements upgrades, signage, path links and planting scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	 Widening of Blind Creek Trail, pavilion upgrade and potential oval expansion.



Ferntree Gully Village Square

Endorsed by Council n/a

Estimate complete 0%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
• On hold following Council land purchase at		
101 Station Street Ferntree Gully.		

Mountain Gate Shopping Centre Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2016

Estimate complete 100%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Streetscape footpath and landscape upgrades completed in 2016. Path upgrade and new social space seating completed Oct 2018. Pedestrian lighting scheduled for delivery in March 2019. 		



Pickett's Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2016

Estimate complete 80%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Gravel carpark expansion, sealing of existing carpark, path connections and removal of existing play space completed. Play space renewal complete. Installation of nets/fencing to the east of oval scheduled for early 2019. Detailed design of spectator viewing area in progress. 		 Gymnasium carpark upgrade scheduled in 2-3 years. Circuit path and entry signage to be delivered in future budgets, as required.


Tim Neville Arboretum – Management Plan

Endorsed by Council 2007

Estimate complete 80%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Playground, boardwalk, carpark, paths, picnic facilities, planting, furniture, war memorial, lake reconstruction complete. Lake shelter upgrade completed in August 2018. Feature tree planting and various feature gardens complete. Centenary of Armistice Commemorative Path Works completed in Oct 2018. 		 Amphitheatre refurbishment. Signage and wayfinding.



Attachment 8.1.1

2019

Masterplan progress

Knox Regional Netball Centre

Year expected to be endorsed by Council 2019

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Feasibility Investigation Study Report endorsed by Council in Dec 2019. Masterplan development to continue in early 2019 and be adopted by June 2019. Geotechnical site investigations to commence in early 2019. Desktop Cultural Heritage Management Plan to commence in early 2019. 	 Subject to outcomes of and Council's endorsement of the Masterplan, Architectural and detailed design could be completed with delivery in the following year(s) - subject to future budget and grant funding opportunities. 	 Subject to outcomes of and Council's endorsement of the Masterplan, proposed works which could include 2 new indoor court stadium, improved carparking arrangements, improved social entry space and associated site/court improvements.



HV Jones Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2018

Estimate complete 5%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Masterplan endorsed in July 2018. Detailed design of key masterplan features in progress. 	 New playspace and multi-sports area scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	 Stage 2 works scheduled for 20/21 to include delivery of new paths, outdoor gym equipment, park furniture, seating and landscape amenity tree planting. Stage 3 works scheduled for 21/22 to include carparking upgraded, netball court upgrade with lighting.



209 of 458

Carrington Park Reserve

Year expected to be endorsed by Council 2019/20

Estimate complete 15%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Building feasibility and investigations progressing. 	 New playspace and multi-sports area scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	 Future reserve works subject to outcomes of facility revision feasibility and investigations.



Gilbert Park

Endorsed by Council 2009 and revised in 2018

Estimate complete 50%

-		
Works complete/ in progress Pr	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Skate Park constructed. Carpark renewed as part of capital renewal program. Design for pavilion completed. Revised Masterplan endorsed in July 2018. Detailed design of Stage 1 works in progress which includes site investigations and detailed design of Masterplan works. 	 Stage 2 works scheduled for 19/20 to include delivery of basketball court, picnic shelter, new paths and park furniture, subject to budget approval. Ambulance outstands area adjacent to Ferntree Gully Road, subject to budget approval. 	 Stage 3 works scheduled for 20/20 to include garden bed improvements, carpark design upgrade and wetland - subject to grant funding and assistance from Melbourne Water. Stage 4 works in 21/22 to include design and construction of Skate/BMX extension.



Knox Park

Endorsed by Council 2008

Estimate complete 80%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Soccer/cricket pavilion upgrade, lighting and renewal of ovals, Dog Park and enhancements to dog training surface complete. Relocation of playspace complete in 2016. 		 Synthetic playing fields that were proposed not progressed due to the construction of synthetic fields at Knox Regional Sports Park. Carpark upgrade at soccer pavilion not yet funded.



Attachment 8.1.1

2019

Masterplan progress

RD Egan Lee Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2018

Estimate complete 5%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Masterplan scheduled for Council endorsement in Dec 2018. 	 Stage 1 works in 2019/20 to include design and delivery of outdoor gym equipment, pathway improvements, drinking fountains and new seats and bins. Subject to budget approval. 	 Stage 2 works in 20/20 to include design and delivery of new playspace, multipurpose court, fence relocation, swale works and tree and garden beds. Stage 3 works in 21/22 to include design and construction of wetland subject to grant funding and assistance from Melbourne Water.



Stud Park Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2016

Estimate complete 60%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Path connections between Fulham Rd and Simon Avenue completed in 2016. Public toilets completed in Oct 2018. All ability access ramp, basketball courts refurbishment, picnic shelters, active outdoor recreation facilities, drinking fountain and planting scheduled for delivery in early 2019. 	 Reserve fencing, additional planting, path links and signage scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	 Sports lighting (sports lighting not funded from Open Space Reserve) to be funded in future stages.



Arcadia Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2015

Estimate complete 90%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Paths and Stage 1 of the play space renewed in 2016. Stage 2 of play space, 1/2 basketball court, planting and furniture completed in June 2018. Additional tree planting, skate elements, soccer goals and drainage to be completed by June 2019. 		



Row Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2015

Estimate complete 100%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Playground renewed in 2016. Paths, gym equipment, shelter and basketball court, planting installed in 2017. 		



Peregrine Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2018

Estimate complete 10%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Masterplan endorsed in July 2018. Playspace upgrades scheduled for delivery in March 2019. 	 Works scheduled for 2019/20 to include detailed design and delivery of social space, basketball court, picnic shelter, BBQ, gym equipment and tree planting. Subject to budget approval. 	 Stage 2 works scheduled for 20/20 to include design and delivery of junior BMX pump track and associated landscape amenity. Stage 3 works in 21/22 to include design and construction of wetland - subject to grant funding and assistance from Melbourne Water.





Rumann and Benedikt Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2014

Estimate complete 85%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 New paths, furniture, relocated carpark new play space including nature play elements completed in 2017. Tennis court, half-court basketball and hit up wall schedule for delivery by June 2019. 	 Picnic shelter, path link and tree planting scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	



Attachment 8.1.1

2019

Masterplan progress

Scoresby Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2015

Estimate complete 50%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Stage 1 carparking improvements completed. Tennis courts and additional new car parking area completed in Dec 2018. Detail design for social space and play upgrade completed. 	 Delivery of social space scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. Delivery of public toilet. 	 Open lawn area, exercise equipment, new paths and pedestrian lighting, scheduled for delivery in 20/20, subject to future budgets.





Scoresby Village

Endorsed by Council 2015

Estimate complete 5%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Detail design for village landscape amenity in progress and design to be completed by June 2019. 	 Delivery of social space scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	 Renovate/extend exiting toilet block to be funded in future budgets.

Talaskia Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2016

Estimate complete 50%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Stage 1 works including new basketball court, tennis hot shot court, retaining walls, spectator seating, picnic shelter, BBQ's, and drinking fountain completed in Dec 2018. Fencing scheduled for delivery in early 2019. Planting scheduled for delivery in April 2019. Junior play space design complete. 	 Accessible paths, nature play area, sensory walk, adventure play, gym equipment scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	



Upper Ferntree Gully Streetscape

Endorsed by Council 2017 (Strategic Plan)

Estimate complete 10%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Stage 1 Concept Design Plan scheduled for consultation Dec – Jan 2019. Detailed design of streetscape scheduled for April 2019. 	• Delivery of Stage 1 streetscape works.	



Templeton Reserve

Endorsed by Council 2016

Estimate complete 75%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Stage 1 works including accessibly paths, improved connection to the pavilion and social space complete. Playground renewal completed in Oct 2018. Oval circuit path completed in Dec 2018. Detailed design of key masterplan features in progress. 	 Picnic shelter and BBQ facilities, drinking fountain, multi activity area, gym equipment, path links and connections, terraced spectator seating, open lawn areas, carpark improvements, tree planting in progress and scheduled for delivery in 2019/20, subject to budget approval. 	 Lighting and art works yet to be funded.



Wantirna Reserve

Year expected to be endorsed by Council 2019

Estimate complete 10%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded	
 Initial masterplan works commenced but on hold pending outcomes from Rec & Leisure works regarding; of Committee of Management with Parks Victoria arrangements and outcomes of Hockey Study. 	 Develop of Draft Masterplan and associated consultation phase. Endorsement of Masterplan Commence detailed design of key masterplan elements Delivery of tennis court improvements Liaise with Community Services regarding development of Men's Shed/Community Hub. Detailed design for dog park, with delivery for the following year. 	Endorsed masterplan	



David Cooper Park

Endorsed by Council 2008

Estimate complete 90%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded
 Path works, BBQ facilities, picnic tables and picnic shelter, 1/2 basketball court, memorial seat, tree planting WSUD rain garden works completed. 		 Feature art entry sculpture, playground upgrade, exercise stations, landscape amenity improvements, feature tree and additional planting to be delivered with future funding
		Q

Llewellyn Park

Endorsed by Council 1998, updated 2015

Estimate complete 20%

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded	
 Stage 1 path works completed. Revegetation works completed in July 2018. Tree planting along Llewellyn Drive completed in July 2018. Fence upgrade scheduled for March 2019. 	 Liaise with Facilities to demolish the existing pavilion and transform to new open shelter with toilet facilities and drinking fountain using existing underground services. Detailed design for dog park. Detailed design for play space upgrade. 	 Furniture and carpark improvements. 	



Lewis Park

Year expected to be endorsed by Council 2019

Works complete/ in progress	Proposed 2019/20 works	Yet to be funded	
 Draft Master Plan in progress, scheduled for Council endorsement in March 2019. 	 Site investigations including feature survey, geotechnical, desktop Cultural Heritage Management Plan to inform future detailed design. Liaise with Melbourne Water regarding daylighting of Blind Creek and retarding basin works. Detailed design of key masterplan features. 	 Endorsed masterplan elements. 	



Attachment 8.1.1

2019

Masterplan progress

FUTURE MASTERPLANS/LANDSCAPE PLANS

Proposed open space	Proposed works	Estimate Year to commence project
Boronia Park, Boronia	Masterplan	2019/20
		Subject to approval of 19/20 Business Case
Lakesfield Reserve, Lysterfield	Landscape Plan	2020/21 - Subject to approval
Major Crescent Reserve, Lysterfield	Landscape Plan	2020/21 - Subject to approval
Schultz Reserve, Wantirna	Landscape Plan	2020/21 - Subject to approval
Flamingo Reserve, Wantirna South	Landscape Plan	2020/21 - Subject to approval

9 Community Services Officers' Reports for consideration

Nil